STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONTE SAMAR BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001082

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIFFANY L. BUTLER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial judge erred by admitting the GPS search records for co-defendant Christopher Wilson's electronic monitoring device, under the business records exception, to coordinate calls made by Appellant from Wilson's cell phone at the time of the robbery, where there was no foundation as to the accuracy of the electronic monitoring device, the process by which the GPS data from the device is stored, and the trustworthiness of the GPS records.

II. Whether the trial judge erred by admitting evidence recovered from 318 Swamp Fox Lane, pursuant to a defective search warrant, where the original search warrant did not have a return attached, one copy of the search warrant had an unsigned return attached, and another copy of the search warrant had a signed return attached, but no time of execution written on the return.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 2012, a Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for three counts of armed robbery, five counts of kidnapping, attempted murder, criminal conspiracy, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and burglary, second degree. R. 739-762. All twelve indictments are from a single incident. R. 739-762. The matter proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. on May 5, 2014. R. 1. Debra Littlejohn and David Schwacke represented Appellant. Colleen Taylor and Mason West represented the State. R. 1.

On May 8, 2014, the jury found Appellant guilty of each count of armed robbery and kidnapping. R. 713. Appellant was also found guilty of burglary and criminal conspiracy. R. 713. He was found not guilty of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 713.

Judge Young sentenced Appellant to sixty years imprisonment. R. 722. Appellant appealed his convictions and sentence. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by admitting the GPS search records for co-defendant Christopher Wilson's electronic monitoring device, under the business records exception, to coordinate calls made by Appellant from Wilson's cell phone at the time of the robbery, where there was no foundation as to the accuracy of the electronic monitoring device, the process by which the GPS data from the device is stored, and the trustworthiness of the GPS records.

Introduction

This case involved an armed robbery of the Zaxby's in Goose Creek, Berkeley County on December 23, 2011. One individual told police that Appellant had called her from Christopher Wilson's phone on the night of the robbery. Another individual told police that she picked up Appellant and Wilson across the street from the Zaxby's the night that it was robbed. Appellant and Wilson were soon developed as suspects. Police requested the GPS search records and cell phone records for Wilson from the night of the robbery. At trial, the State introduced the records to show that Wilson was at the Zaxby's during the time of the robbery and Appellant was with him and made calls from Wilson's phone.

Motion to Suppress Christopher Wilson's GPS Records

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to suppress the GPS records for Christopher Wilson, Appellant's co-defendant. R. 85. The solicitor sought to introduce the records to show that Appellant was with Wilson and making calls from Wilson's cellphone during the time of the robbery. R. 86, lines 13 – 25. Counsel argued that GPS data can be obstructed

by “various things” and there must be testimony of the accuracy of the GPS technology. R. 88, line 18 – R. 89, line 1.

The solicitor argued that the GPS records were kept by the South Carolina Department of Probation, Pardon, and Parole as part of their normal business documents. The department’s agents had access to the server run by Omni Link, the company that runs the GPS. According to the solicitor, the department’s agents regularly go to Omni Link’s website to print records. R. 89, lines 6 – 13. The solicitor also claimed that Agent Steward Powell, Wilson’s probation agent and witness for the State, is trained in how to read a GPS report printout. R. 89, lines 17 – 24.

Defense counsel responded that “simply reading a report doesn’t qualify someone to testify as to the accuracy of it, which then would be . . . very prejudicial to [Appellant].” R. 90, line 24 – R. 91, lines 1 – 8. Counsel explained that the GPS is run by Omni Link, which created the GPS records, stored them on their server, and produced the software that allowed the company to perform those functions. R. 92, lines 11 – 13.

Over counsel’s objection, Judge Young admitted the GPS records into evidence under the business records exception to the rule against hearsay, Rule 803(6), SCRE. The judge stated that “GPS data pulled off the server is business records exception . . . and that the person who comes and testified that they’re someone who regularly has access to those records can come in and testify as to . . . what that data was that got pulled off.” R. 369, lines 4 – 10.

Facts at Trial

The State's case consisted of highly circumstantial evidence.

On the night of December 23, 2011, Jeffrey Taylor had just ended his evening shift at the Zaxby's in Goose Creek, Berkeley County. R. 221, line 17 – R. 222, line 11. His shift ended around 11:00 pm and he walked to his car to make some phone calls. R. 222, lines 10 – 15.

While sitting in his car, Taylor saw a light flashing and heard someone say “turn around.” R. 222, lines 16 – 19. He turned around to see three people walking towards the Zaxby's. R. 222, lines 20 – 23. He recognized one person as his co-worker, Ronnie, but could only see that the other two people had on black clothing. R. 222, line 24 - R. 223, line 6. One of them had a gun “poked” into Ronnie's side and was “pulling him back towards the restaurant.” R. 223, lines 7 – 20.

Taylor called 9-1-1 and stayed on the phone until the police responded to the scene. R. 223, lines 8 – 16. When officers arrived, he pointed out to police that the two men ran away into the woods behind the restaurant. R. 223, lines 8 – 16. Taylor also gave a statement stating that two men went into the restaurant and later ran out the back door into the woods. R. 227, lines 14 – 18. He could not identify the two men.

Gerlinda Williams was the assistant manager working at the Zaxby's on the night of December 23, 2011. R. 278, line 21 – R. 279, line 6. She was inside the manager's office completing her paperwork when a man with a knife walked into the office and told her to lie down on the floor. R. 286, lines 6 – 10. Then, a man with a gun walked into the office and told the man with the knife to go in the back of the restaurant. R. 286, lines 11 – 13.

While Williams was on the floor near the office, the man with the gun searched her pockets and shot her in the leg. R. 280, lines 20 – 21. She stated that the two men were wearing all black clothing and ski masks. R. 280, lines 3 – 5. The men took about \$3,800.00 during the robbery. R. 281, lines 19 – 21. Williams could not identify the men.

Sgt. Scott Clark with the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office K-9 Unit got a call from the Goose Creek police to assist with the investigation. R. 314, lines 9 – 11. The officers informed Sgt. Clark that two people were seen running across the highway into the Foxborough subdivision across from the Zaxby's. R. 314, lines 12 – 14. He started his dog at the entrance of Foxborough, which led him into the area of 318 Swamp Fox Lane. R. 314, line 9 – R. 319, line 23. He found money on the ground. R. 314, lines 2 – 23. However, neither Appellant's nor Wilson's DNA was found on the money.

Sgt. Clark returned to the restaurant with his dog and tracked a scent at the back of the building near the dumpsters where the two men were seen running away into the woods. R. 322, line 21 – R. 323, line 3. The dog picked up a black ski mask that was sitting on a tree and more money on the ground. R. 323, lines 3 – 11. Wilson's DNA was later found on the mask. R. 491, lines 1 – 14.

Wendy Myers, a crime scene investigator with the Goose Creek police department, recovered a .22 caliber shell casing inside of the Zaxby's near the "employees only" area. R. 339, line 20 – R. 340, line 6. Myers also located a projectile in the back of the restaurant near the office. R. 341, line 1 – R. 342, line 9. The shell casing was sent to SLED for ballistics testing. R. 344, line 22- R. 345, line 2. The casing matched the .22 caliber pistol that was later recovered from Wilson's residence. R. 480, lines 12 – 23.

Appellant's girlfriend, Marteeka Hamilton, stated that Appellant called her from Christopher Wilson's phone around midnight on December 23, 2011. R. 378, lines 4 – 12. Appellant told her that he needed her to pick him and Wilson up from the entrance of the Foxborough subdivision. R. 379, lines 10 – 20.

Cynthia Garrett told police that she had seen Appellant cleaning a gun in her house. R. 416, lines 22 – 23. She claimed that Appellant called her from Wilson's cell phone on December 23, 2011 around midnight. R. 420, lines 11 – 20. He asked Garrett to pick him up, but she refused. R. 420, line 21 – R. 421, line 21. Garrett also claimed that Appellant confessed to her about robbing the Zaxby's with Wilson. R. 423, lines 11 – 24. She said that Appellant had new clothes, shoes, and a cell phone. R. 424, lines 9 – 18. After her encounter with Appellant, Garrett went to the police. R. 426, lines 1 – 3.

Based on Garrett's information and Wilson's DNA on the mask, officers executed a search warrant for 318 Swamp Fox Lane in the Foxborough subdivision, Wilson's home. R. 491, lines 15 – 19. Appellant was located inside the home and was detained. R. 479, line 18 – R. 480, line 11.

Officers recovered a Ruger Mark II semi-automatic .22 caliber pistol inside of a suitcase, which was found outside near the garage. R. 480, lines 12 – 23. The pistol matched the shell casing recovered from the restaurant. R. 574, line 1 – R. 575, line 5. Appellant's DNA was not a conclusive match to the DNA found on the pistol. R. 608, line 16 – R. 611, line 10.

Over defense counsel's objection, Investigator Powell used the GPS records from Wilson's electronic monitoring device to coordinate his location with the phone calls that Appellant allegedly made from Wilson's phone to Marteeka Hamilton and Cynthia Garrett

shortly after the robbery. R. 507 – 514. According to Powell, Wilson was at the Zaxby’s address and in the wooded area next to the restaurant during the time period of the robbery, 12:04 pm. R. 507 – 514.

Appellant chose to put the State to its burden of proof and did not offer a defense. Christopher Wilson pled guilty prior to trial and did not testify against Appellant.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by admitting the GPS records for Christopher Wilson’s electronic monitoring device under the business records exception to the rule against hearsay. There was no foundation laid as to the accuracy of the electronic monitoring device, the process by which the GPS data from the device is stored, and the trustworthiness of the GPS records.

The business records exception to the rule against hearsay provides that memoranda, reports, records, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses can be admissible at trial if they are (1) made at or near the time of the event recorded; (2) prepared by someone with or from information transmitted by a person with knowledge; (3) made and kept in the course of a regularly-conducted business activity; (4) identified by the custodian or qualified witness who can testify regarding the mode of preparation of the record; and (5) found to be trustworthy by the court. Rule 803(6), SCRE.

This exception to the hearsay rule does not, however, “absolve the offering party from the usual requirements of authentication.” State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 173, 359 S.E.2d 281, 281 (1987). See also Stevens v. Allen, 336 S.C. 439, 520 S.E.2d 625 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Even under Rule 803(6), SCRE, a proper foundation must be laid for admittance of the evidence.”). The proponent of evidence that falls within the business records exception

must still meet the authentication requirement of Rule 901, SCRE. State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 128-29, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39 (2009).

Under Rule 901, SCRE, “[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Authentication of a process or system requires evidence that the process or system in question produces a result and that the result produced is accurate. Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE.

While Appellant knows of no South Carolina cases that directly address the foundational requirements for authenticating electronic monitoring records for admission as a business record, neighboring jurisdictions have addressed the issue.

In Ruise v. State, 43 So.3d 885 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2010), the Florida District Court of Appeal reviewed Ruise’s revocation of his probation and resulting sentence based on GPS data from his electronic monitoring device. In May 2008, Ruise was placed on sex offender probation and was required to wear an electronic monitoring device as a condition of his supervision. Ruise, 43 So.3d at 886. The state filed an affidavit of violation alleging that on June 28, 2009, Ruise was “away from his approved residence,” in violation of the condition that he remain confined to his home. Id. The only evidence that the state presented was the GPS data from the monitoring device. Id.

Ruise argued that the GPS data was inadmissible hearsay and should not have been admitted as evidence. Id. The state argued the data was admissible under the business records exception the rule against hearsay. Id. The District Court of Appeal explained that “[t]he state had the burden to lay the requisite foundation for admission of the GPS data under this hearsay exception.” Id. at 887. See also Jackson v. State, 877 So.2d 816, 816-17

(Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2004) (“[C]omputer printouts, like business records, are admissible if the custodian or other qualified witness is available to testify as to the manner of preparation, reliability, and trustworthiness.”).

In Ruise, the state “presented testimony of an employee of the monitoring company who explained how the electronic monitoring system worked and how the GPS data from the offender’s monitoring device is compiled into a computer database that the probation officer can access to track the offender’s location within an 18-foot radius.” Id. In addition to testimony from the employee of the monitoring company, Ruise’s probation agent explained how he accessed the database and printed the reports. Id. The agent also testified how he had taken Ruise to various locations to ensure that the data from the monitoring device was accurate. Id.

The District Court of Appeal found that the state had laid the foundation necessary for having the GPS data admitted as a business record. Id. at 888.

North Carolina, our sister state, has also addressed laying the proper foundation to verify authenticity and trustworthiness of GPS tracking data. In State v. Jackson, 748 S.E.2d 50 (N.C. Ct. App. 2013), the North Carolina Court of Appeals considered whether the state properly authenticated GPS tracking evidence.

In that case, Jackson was indicted for simple assault, sexual battery, larceny, and second-degree sexual offense. Jackson, 748 S.E.2d at 52. After the victim informed the police of the sexual assault and gave a description of the suspect, the police received a tip that directed them to Jackson’s residence. Id. at 53. Police arrived at Jackson’s residence and observed that he wore an electronic monitoring device. Id. After the victim identified Jackson as her assailant, Jackson was arrested. Id.

At trial, the state introduced evidence from Jackson's electronic monitoring device to place him at the scene of the assault. Id. Sgt. Dave Schepperegg testified on behalf of the state concerning Jackson's monitoring device and the data produced by the device. Id. at 54. Sgt. Schepperegg testified that "he is the supervisor of the electronic monitoring unit of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department," and "he received training from the vendors of the electronic monitoring devices used" by the police department. Id.

Sgt. Schepperegg also "described the different components of the device," "testified about how the device operates using a combination of GPS signals and cell phone triangulations to track the location of the device," and explained how the "tracking data is then uploaded from the device to a secure server where it is stored." Id. Finally, Sgt. Schepperegg explained how "he can view the data stored on the secured server via a web service and produce reports based on the data and routinely does so in the normal course of business." Id.

On appeal, Jackson argued that the GPS tracking data was not properly authenticated. The Court disagreed and found that Sgt. Schepperegg's testimony "established a sufficient foundation of trustworthiness for the tracking evidence to be admitted as a business record." Id. at 56. See also State v. Taylor, 632 S.E.2d 218 (N.C. Ct. App. 2006) (Finding that printouts of text messages sent to and from a cell phone number assigned to victim's company-issued cell phone were properly authenticated where the strategic care specialist for the cell phone company testified as to the company's procedures for keeping records of text messages to and from customers and the manager of the cell phone business that issued phone to victim and retrieved the messages testified how he retrieved them.).

Jurisdictions beyond the southeast have considered the foundation requirements for introducing data derived from electronic monitoring devices. See State v. Kandutsch, 336 Wis.2d 478, 799 N.W.2d 865 (2011) (holding that the State authenticated and laid a proper foundation for a report from defendant's home electronic monitoring unit by providing testimony describing the electronic monitoring system, how the system works, the process by which the summary reports are generated, and that the process produces an accurate result); State v. Polanco, 69 Conn. App. 169, 184, 797 A.2d 523, 533 (Conn. App. Ct. 2002) (Although the evidence at issue involved a map generated using data from a GPS system that was maintained on a computer, the appeals court explained that "a court is not permitted to admit a computer generated exhibit into evidence unless the proffering party also (1) presents a witness whose knowledge of computers is sufficient to enable a direct and cross-examination concerning the process used to generate the exhibit and (2) lays a foundation, through that witness, sufficient to support a finding that the process and equipment involved in generating the exhibit were adequate for that purpose.").

Upon a review of the case law, appellate courts from other states that have considered and addressed the proper foundation to verify the authenticity of electronic monitoring device data approve testimony from witnesses with knowledge of how the device works, how data is derived from the device to be stored, and whether the data is accurate.

Because appellate courts in South Carolina require a proper foundation of authenticity for such evidence as fingerprints, a proper foundation as to the accuracy and trustworthiness of data from electronic monitoring devices should be required as well. See

State v. Anderson, 386 S.C.120, 687 S.E.2d 35 (2009); State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 359 S.E.2d 281 (1987).

Here, the GPS records for Christopher Wilson should not have been admitted as a business record. The State offered Agent Steward Powell as the custodian of the records. However, he did not explain how the GPS data is stored. Powell did not testify whether the electronic monitoring device was working properly or whether there had ever been problems with the device. Powell did not offer his experience or training working with electronic monitoring devices, nor did he explain how the device works.

In fact, Powell stated that GPS data is “recorded by a third party vendor, that (sic) supplied the software, hardware, [and] the actual ankle monitor, for the system.” R. 468, line 24 – R. 469, line 1. The only testimony he offered was that he and other agents had access to the third party’s server, Omni Link, and regularly printed records.

Investigator Nicholas Powell, who interpreted the data, did not testify as to his experience or training in interpreting GPS data. There was no testimony as to his knowledge of electronic monitoring devices and how they work no was there testimony about his familiarity with Wilson’s device. He merely read from the report.

There was no preliminary showing that the GPS data introduced against Appellant was accurate and trustworthy. There was no evidence describing the process by which the data was stored and transmitted. Even if the GPS records qualify as a business record, they were not properly authenticated, and therefore, should not have been admitted. Rule 901, SCRE.

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