STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
AUG 06 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DONTE SAMAR BROWN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-001082

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, 4th Floor
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in admitting GPS records since the records do not constitute hearsay, the foundation was sufficient to establish that the records were admissible as business records, and sufficient foundation was laid to authenticate the records.

Brown complains that the trial court erred in admitting the report showing GPS tracking data because it did not meet the business records exception to hearsay and was not properly authenticated. However, the report was not hearsay because it is not an out-of-court statement made by **a declarant** as defined by our rules of evidence and further, the report was properly authenticated. Additionally, the report would meet the business records exception even if it was considered hearsay.

The GPS records are not hearsay because the “declarant” was not a person. “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by statute, the Rules of Evidence, or other court rules. Rule 802, SCRE; State v. LaCoste, 347 S.C. 153, 553 S.E.2d 464 (Ct. App. 2001), *cert. dismissed* 353 S.C. 538, 579 S.E.2d 318 (2003). “A ‘statement’ is (1) an oral or written assertion or (2) nonverbal conduct of a person, if it is intended by the person as an assertion.” Rule 801(a), SCRE. “A ‘declarant’ is **a person** who makes a statement.” Rule 801(b), SCRE (emphasis added).

The glaring omission in Brown’s analysis of this issue is the threshold question of whether the “declarant” is a person. The declarant in this case is not a person; it is an ankle bracelet. The conversation, an electronic transmission sent to satellites, is used to

determine from where the bracelet speaks. Therefore Rule 801, SCRE, does not apply – there is no hearsay to contend with.

The trial court cited Commonwealth v. Thissell, 910 N.E.2d 943 (Mass. App. Ct. 2009), which is helpful authority that is loudly absent from Brown’s brief. In Thissell, the appellant was on probation and required to wear a GPS device on his ankle. Transmissions from the ankle device went to the Massachusetts probation control center in Boston. Id. at 944. The appellant objected to GPS documents that showed his locations when he twice allowed his ankle device to be submerged into water and also when he entered an exclusion zone in violation of a no-contact condition of his probation. Id. at 945.

The Thissell court relied on Commonwealth v. Whitlock, 906 N.E.2d 995 (Mass. App. Ct. 2009), a case concerning the use of ArcView, a computerized map, to measure the distance between the location of a drug sale and a school zone in a prosecution for distribution of a controlled substance in a school zone. Thissell quoted Whitlock for the proposition that “[b]y its very nature, calculation of distance, or of weight, volume, speed, and the like, is impossible without use of a tool that had been calibrated to show a relevant unit of measure, e.g., a rule, a tape measure, a wheel, a scale, or, at a more sophisticated level, a radar gun, a breathalyzer, or a blood test. When employed to measure something, none of those tools make a ‘statement.’” Thissell, 910 N.E.2d at 946 (quoting Whitlock, 906 N.E.2d at 1000). The court concluded that because the GPS maps and logs were generated by a GPS device, not a person, the maps and logs generated by the GPS were not hearsay. Thissell, 910 N.E.2d at 946.

The Fourth Circuit has found that machine-generated reports are not hearsay. In

United States v. Washington, 498 F.3d 225 (4th Cir. 2007), the Fourth Circuit analyzed whether toxicology data generated by lab machines, which indicated the defendant's blood contained alcohol and phencyclidine (PCP), was hearsay. The Fourth Circuit determined it was not hearsay because the data was not a statement made by a person as defined by Rule 801, FRE: "In short, the inculcating 'statement' – that Washington's blood sample contained PCP and alcohol – was made by the machine on printed sheets, which were given to [the expert witness]." *Id.* at 230. "Only a *person* may be a declarant and make a statement. Accordingly, nothing 'said' by a machine . . . is hearsay." *Id.* at 231 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted, emphasis in the original). In the instant case, the GPS coordinates were recorded in real time and the data compilation was machine-generated. The GPS records are not hearsay.

Should machines be deemed people, the testimony is admissible as a business record. Under S.C. Code section 19-5-510¹ and Rule 803(6), SCRE, certain records kept in the ordinary course of business may fall within the exception to the hearsay rule. However, foundation must be established that (1) the record is prepared at or near the event recorded, (2) the record must be prepared in the regular course of business, (3) a custodian or qualified witness must identify the record and its method of preparation, and (4) the court must find the record trustworthy. Additionally, Rule 803(6) requires that the record be prepared by or from information transmitted by a person with knowledge. Before the business record may be entered into evidence, the foundation must be laid

¹ "A record of an act, condition or event shall, insofar as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission." S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510 (1985).

showing the record complies with these principles. State v. Sarvis, 317 S.C. 102, 450 S.E.2d 606 (Ct. App. 1994). “The purpose of this mandate is to aid in establishing that the record was honestly and fairly kept.” S.C. Nat’l Bank v. Jones, 302 S.C. 154, 155, 394 S.E.2d 323, 324 (1990).

The Thissel court found that even if the GPS evidence constituted hearsay, it was admissible as a business record. Thissel, 910 N.E.2d at 946 (“It can be inferred that the documents were made in good faith and in the ordinary course of business of the probation department whose duty it was to supervise the defendant’s probation, including the monitoring of his location by means of the GPS device.”).

The second case the trial court relied on was State v. Jackson, 748 S.E.2d 50 (N.C. Ct. App. 2013). In that case, the sergeant supervising the police department’s electronic monitoring unit testified the defendant wore an Omni-Link 210 ankle device. The device was manufactured by Omni-Link Systems. The device operated by using GPS signals and cell phone triangulations to track the location of the device at least every four minutes. This tracking data was then uploaded from the device to a secure server where it was stored. The sergeant testified that he can view the data stored on the secured server via a web service and can produce reports based on the data and routinely does so in the normal course of business. Id. at 54.

The North Carolina Court of Appeals found the data stored on the secured server was a data compilation and the exhibits used at trial were merely extractions of that data. Id. at 55. The North Carolina Court of Appeals found the sergeant’s testimony established a sufficient foundation of trustworthiness for the tracking evidence to be admitted as a business record. Id. at 56.

In the instant case, the report utilized was compiled by Steward Powell, an agent with the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon (DPPP). Agent Powell testified he supervises offenders sentenced by the court. Agent Powell testified his duties include the use of the GPS monitoring systems. Agent Powell testified that the GPS monitor “is affixed to the offender, and their movements are tracked wherever they go.” ROA. p. 468, lines 5-7. Agent Powell further explained:

The State has a GOC, general operations center, in Columbia. These offenders are tracked, 24 hours a day, seven days a week so they’re always monitored. Us field agents – and what I mean is someone like me at a local office, we can log on to our computers and see in real time where these offenders are.

ROA. p. 458, lines 15-20.

The information is recorded by a third party vendor that supplies the software and hardware. ROA. p. 468. As in Jackson, the vendor is Omni-Link. ROA. p. 478, lines 1-2. Agent Powell testified the information is very accurate, and the agents use the information in court all the time. ROA. pp. 468-469. The information is kept in the regular course of business. Agent Powell further testified that the agents are sent for training for interpreting the GPS equipment. ROA. p. 469.

Agent Powell identified State’s Exhibit No. 32 as the archived GPS data for Christopher Wilson. This report was forwarded to the police by fellow agent Gross, who was no longer with the agency but at the time was the agent who primarily worked with the GPS system. Agent Powell verified there were no alterations, deletions, or subtractions from the records. ROA. pp. 469-471. On cross-examination, Agent Powell verified the exhibit was a record that “belong[s] to us, we use those every day in the

course of our daily activities.” ROA. p. 476, lines 9-11.

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.

In the instant case, (1) the GPS data was recorded in real time , (2) the GPS data was prepared in the regular course of business, (3) the method of preparation was explained by Agent Powell, and (4) Agent Powell testified that the data was very accurate. Accordingly, the trial court’s ruling has evidentiary support and the trial court’s admission of the GPS records does not amount to an abuse of discretion.

Brown complains the records were not properly authenticated. However, the GPS records are authenticated by Powell’s testimony. “The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. The rule provides non-exclusive examples of how the authentication requirement may be satisfied. Rule 901(b), SCRE. Paragraph seven of subsection (b) provides the following means of authentication:

Public Records or Reports. Evidence that a writing authorized by law to be recorded or filed and in fact recorded or filed in a public office, or a purported public record, report, statement, or data compilation, in any form, is from the public office where items of this nature are kept.

Rule 901(b)(7), SCRE.

Under S.C. Code § 23-3-540(P), which defines “active electronic monitoring device,” DPPP is required to monitor offenders and the device utilized is required to

actively monitor and record “a person’s location at least once every minute twenty-four hours a day . . .” Therefore, the record of the device’s movements is a public record authorized by law. Cf. State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 130-31, 687 S.E.2d 35, 40 (2009) (noting that fingerprint records of every person arrested were submitted to SLED and maintained by SLED pursuant to statute, and the fingerprints are stored in AFIS for every ten-print card in South Carolina; therefore, Anderson’s fingerprint card was authenticated as a public record pursuant to Rule 901(b)(7), SCRE).

Additionally, Agent Powell testified as to how the global positions are captured and recorded. Agent Powell testified that reports of an offender’s movements are accessible and may be generated by all the agents. Agent Powell testified that the information is very accurate. See Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE (providing for authentication based on “[e]vidence describing a process or system used to produce a result and showing that the process or system produces an accurate result.”). Agent Powell further identified the report as a report of Christopher Wilson’s movements during the relevant time frame. See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE (providing for authentication by a witness with knowledge “that a matter is what it is claimed to be.”). Agent Powell was able to identify the report from its appearance, contents, and other distinctive characteristics. Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE (providing for authentication by testimony about the distinctive “[a]pppearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances”). Accordingly, the report was authenticated by a person with knowledge and by its distinctive characteristics based on Agent Powell’s testimony. The GPS report was properly authenticated.

Further, any conceivable error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of

the overwhelming evidence of guilt. “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”

State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

II.

Evidence supports the finding that law enforcement complied with the warrant statute and returned the warrant with a listing of inventory within ten days of the magistrate issuing the search warrant, and Appellant failed to show prejudice from any purported defect in the ministerial requirement of making the return.

Brown claims the trial court should have suppressed evidence seized from the Wilson residence because the State was unable to produce the clocked and signed original return. Instead, a clocked copy and a signed copy of the return were produced that firmly established that law enforcement complied with the statutory requirements of making a return to the search warrant within ten days of execution of the warrant.

Under S.C. Code § 17-13-140, a magistrate may issue a warrant identifying property to be searched when satisfied probable cause exists to issue the warrant upon affidavit sworn before the magistrate. The search warrant “shall be directed to any peace officer having jurisdiction in the county where issued . . . and shall be returnable to the issuing magistrate.” Id. The statute further commands the following:

Any warrant issued hereunder shall be executed and return made only within ten days after it is dated. The officer executing the warrant shall make and deliver a signed inventory of any articles seized by virtue of the warrant, which shall be delivered to the judicial officer to whom the return is to be made, and if a copy of the inventory is demanded by the person from whose person or premises the property is taken, a copy of the inventory shall be delivered to him.

Id.

In the instant case, the State provided a copy of the return indicating that the return was provided to the magistrate on January 6, 2012, the day after the warrant was

issued. It lists the inventory and the officers present during the inventory process. The return is signed by the magistrate and notarized. It is also signed by the law enforcement officer. The copy of the return indicates that the statute was followed. No part of the statute requires the original return be produced for trial. Accordingly, suppression is not required because the statute was followed. Further, the record suggests that the Goose Creek magistrate's office misplaced the return and that law enforcement followed the established procedure, including leaving the magistrate with the original return.

Brown's reliance on State v. Freeman, 319 S.C. 110, 459 S.E.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1995) is misplaced. In that case, the prosecution was unable to produce an original copy of the search warrant or return. This Court noted the only copy of the return appearing in the record was unsigned and unsworn. Id. at 118, 459 S.E.2d at 872. The trial judge and the State's witnesses had no clear recollection of whether a return was made to the Clerk of Court. This Court noted: "In the posture in which this record has reached us, there is no evidence that the return was ever made." Id. at 117, 459 S.E.2d at 871.

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